LU

LUKOIL

OAO LUKOIL

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(prepared in accordance with US GAAP)
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011

and for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2012



M ZAO KPMG Telephone +7 (495) 937 4477
10 Presnenskaya Naberezhnaya Fax +7 (495) 937 4400/99
Moscow, Russia 123317 Internet www.kpmg.ru

Auditors’ Report
To the Board of Directors
OAO LUKOIL

We have audited the accompanying consolidated diahstatements of OAO LUKOIL and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated lw&asheets as of December 31, 2012 and
2011, and the consolidated statements of comprafeeimeome, stockholders’ equity and cash
flows for 2012, 2011 and 2010, and the relatedsatéhe consolidated financial statements.

Management’'s Responsibility for the ConsolidatethRtial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation amd dresentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with U.S. gdlyeecepted accounting principles; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintemaoic internal control relevant to the
preparation of consolidated financial statementst t#wre free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on fa# presentation of these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We cdaduaur audits in accordance with Russian
Federal Auditing Standards and auditing standaateiglly accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we comphh withical requirements and plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assuraboetavhether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtairdif evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesiefihe procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due reudf or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal corgl@bant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statémanorder to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for theppse of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Acdingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness ajuating policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, asaw@Valuating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtaimedfficient and appropriate to express an
opinion on the fair presentation of these constdiddinancial statements.

Audited entity: Open Joint Stock Company “Oil company “LUKOIL” Independent auditor: ZAO KPMG, a company incorporated under the
Laws of the Russian Federation, a part of the KPMG Europe LLP group,
and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member

firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG
International”), a Swiss entity.

Registered by Moscow Registration Chamber on 22 of April 1993,
Registration No. 024020.

Entered in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities on 17 July
2002 by Department of Ministry of Taxes and Duties, Registration
No. 1027700035769, Certificate series 77 No 007892347

Registered by the Moscow Registration Chamber on 25 May 1992,
Registration No. 011.585.

Included in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities on 13 August
2002 by the Moscow Inter-Regional Tax Inspectorate No.39 of the
Ministry for Taxes and Duties of the Russian Federation, Registration
No. 1027700125628, Certificate series 77 No. 005721432.

11, Sretensky Boulevard, Moscow, Russia, 101000

Member of the Non-commercial Partnership “Chamber of Auditors of
Russia”. The Principal Registration Number of the Entry in the State
Register of Auditors and Audit Organisations: N0.10301000804.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaereferred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of OAOK®Q@IL and its subsidiaries as of December
31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for 2012, 2011 and
2010 in accordance with U.S. generally acceptedwting principles.

Other Matter

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles meqthat the Supplementary Information on
Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Activities pages 41 through 47 be presented to
supplement the basic consolidated financial statésn&uch information, although not a part of
the basic consolidated financial statements, isired by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential partirdintcial reporting for placing the basic
consolidated financial statements in an appropdgtrational, economic, or historical context.

We have applied certain limited procedures to thguired supplementary information in

accordance with auditing standards generally aecejt the United States of America, which

consisted of inquiries of management about the oasthof preparing the information and

comparing the information for consistency with ngemment's responses to our inquiries, the
basic consolidated financial statements, and dthewledge we obtained during our audit of
the basic consolidated financial statements. Wendb express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limitedgaiures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any asser.

Ng/ 49/10 dated Octabez010

February 22, 2013

Moscow, Russian Federation



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011

(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Note 2012 2011
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 2,914 2,753
Short-term investments 286 157
Accounts receivable, r 5 8,667 8,921
Inventories 6 8,098 7,533
Prepaid taxes and other expenses 3,541 3,219
Other current assets 767 946
Total current assets 24,273 23,529
Investments 7 4,124 5,952
Property, plant and equipment 8,9 66,883 56,803
Deferred income tax assets 13 569 591
Goodwill and other intangible assets 10 1,964 1,344
Other non-current assets 1,148 2,973
Total assets 98,961 91,192
Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable 7,263 5,995
Short-term borrowings and current portion of loegat debt 11 658 1,792
Taxes payable 2,802 2,271
Other current liabilities 1,730 1,050
Total current liabilities 12,453 11,108
Long-term debt 12,16 5,963 7,300
Deferred income tax liabilities 13 3,651 2,790
Asset retirement obligations 8 2,195 2,120
Other long-term liabilities 511 408
Total liabilities 24,773 23,726
Equity 15
OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity
Common stock 15 15
Treasury stock, at cost (5,189) (4,081)
Equity-linked notes (2,500) (980)
Additional paid-in capital 4,734 4,798
Retained earnings 76,216 67,940
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (69) (54)
Total OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity 73,207 67,638
Non-controlling interests 981 (172)
Total equity 74,188 67,466
Total liabilities and equity 98,961 91,192

President of ®AG LUKOIL
Alekperov V.Y.

L [pSe

Vice-president — Chief acotant of OAO LUKOIL

Khoba L.N.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and @01
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Note 2012 2011 2010

Revenues
Sales (including excise and export tariffs) 22 139, 133,650 104,956
Costs and other deductions
Operating expenses (9,359) (9,055) (8,298)
Cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products 463,1 (59,694) (43,250)
Transportation expenses (6,171) (6,121) (5,608)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 8,75 (3,822) (3,558)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (4,832) (4,473) (4,154)
Taxes other than income taxes 13 (13,666) (12,918) (8,978)
Excise and export tariffs (22,836) (22,217) (18,878)
Exploration expenses (364) (532) (336)
Gain (loss) on disposals and impairments of assets 30 (1,663) (363)
Income from operating activities 14,070 13,155 1833
Interest expense (538) (694) (712)
Interest and dividend income 257 211 174
Equity share in income of affiliates 7 518 690 472
Currency translation loss (512) (301) (122)
Other non-operating (expense) income (72) 58 125
Income before income taxes 13,723 13,119 11,470
Current income taxes (2,738) (2,678) (2,104)
Deferred income taxes (60) (615) (247)
Total income tax expense 13 (2,798) (3,293) (2,351)
Net income 10,925 9,826 9,119
Net loss (income) attributable to non-controllimgerests 79 531 (113)
Net income attributable to OAO LUKOIL 11,004 10,357 9,006
Earnings per share of common stock attributable to
OAO LUKOIL (US dollars): 15

Basic 14.47 13.30 10.95

Diluted 14.17 13.04 10.94
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Defined benefit pension plan:

Prior service cost arising during the period - 22 12

Actuarial loss (15) (9) (4)
Other comprehensive (loss) income (15) 13 8
Comprehensive income 10,910 9,839 9,127
Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to non+odiirtg
interests 79 531 (113)
Comprehensive income attributable to OAO LUKOIL 10989 10,370 9,014

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and @01
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted

2012 2011 2010
Stockholders’ Comprehen- Stockholders’ Comprehen- Stockholders’ Comprehen-
equity  sive income equity  sive income equity  sive income
Common stock
Balance as of January 1 15 15 15
Balance as of December 31 15 15 15
Treasury stock
Balance as of January 1 (4,081) (3,683) (282)
Stock purchased (128) (398) (3,664)
Stock disposed - - 263
Equity-linked notes conversion (980) - -
Balance as of December 31 (5,189) (4,081) (3,683)
Equity-linked notes
Balance as of January 1 (980) (980) -
Equity-linked notes purchased (2,500) - (980)
Equity-linked notes conversion 980 - -
Balance as of December 31 (2,500) (980) (980)
Additional paid-in capital
Balance as of January 1 4,798 4,700 4,699
Premium on non-outstanding shares issued - - 1
Effect of stock compensation plan (197) 98 98
Convertible bonds issue - - 113
Changes in non-controlling interests 133 - (141)
Treasury stock disposed - - (70)
Balance as of December 31 4,734 4,798 4,700
Retained earnings
Balance as of January 1 67,940 59,212 51,634
Net income 11,004 11,004 10,357 10,357 9,006 9,006
Dividends on common stock (2,728) (1,629) (1,428)
Balance as of December 31 76,216 67,940 59,212
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Balance as of January 1 (54) (67) (75)
Pension benefits:
Prior service cost - - 22 22 12 12
Actuarial loss (15) (15) (9) (9) (4) (4)
Balance as of December 31 (69) (54) (67)
Total comprehensive income 10,989 10,370 9,014
Total OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity
as of December 31 73,207 67,638 59,197
Non-controlling interests
Balance as of January 1 172) 411 388
Net (loss) income attributable to
non-controlling interests (79) (531) 113
Changes in non-controlling interests 1,232 (52) (90)
Balance as of December 31 981 (172) 411
Total equity as of December 31 74,188 67,466 53860

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and @01
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted

Share activity

2012 2011 2010
(thousands of shares) (thousands of shares) (thousands of shares)

Common stock, issued

Balance as of January 1 850,563 850,563 850,563
Balance as of December 31 850,563 850,563 850,563
Treasury stock

Balance as of January 1 (76,101) (69,208) (3,836)

Purchase of treasury stock (2,096) (6,893) (68,912)

Disposal of treasury stock - - 3,540

Equity-linked notes conversion (17,500) - -
Balance as of December 31 (95,697) (76,101) (69,208)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and @01
(Millions of US dollars)

2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income attributable to OAO LUKOIL 11,004 10,357 9,006
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 4,832 78,4 4,154
Equity share in income of affiliates, net of dividks received 102 185 316
Dry hole write-offs 127 417 225
(Gain) loss on disposals and impairments of assets (30) 1,663 363
Deferred income taxes 60 615 247
Non-cash currency translation loss (gain) 293 4)21 (44)
Non-cash investing activities (18) (6) (67)
All other items — net 153 (447) 167
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable 641 (758) (2,285)
Inventories (126) (1,420) (813)
Accounts payable 1,001 885 1,508
Taxes payable 468 177 274
Other current assets and liabilities 490 (413) 490
Net cash provided by operating activities 18,997 51514 13,541
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of licenses (921) (25) (15)
Capital expenditures (11,647) (8,249) (6,596)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 412 156 128
Purchases of investments (453) (101) (137)
Proceeds from sale of investments 252 79 126
Sale of subsidiaries and equity method affiliatest,of cash
disposed 27 227 130
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and equity methodliatiés, net of
cash acquired (886) (1,100) (932)
Net cash used in investing activities (13,216) (9,013) (7,296)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net movements of short-term borrowings (32) (633) (213)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 597 1 12,5
Principal repayments of long-term debt (1,831) (1,372) (2,267)
Dividends paid on Company common stock (2,800) (1,714) (1,471)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest stoclders (113) (116) (85)
Financing received from non-controlling interestcétholders 2 3 18
Purchase of Company’s stock (128) (398) (3,664)
Sale of Company’s stock - - 193
Purchase of equity-linked notes (740) (1,760) (980)
Purchases of non-controlling interest (635) (34) (192)
Net cash used in financing activities (5,680) (6,023) (6,146)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvatmnts 60 (93) (5)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 161 385 94
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 32,75 2,368 2,274
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,914 2,753 2,368
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest paid 497 683 718
Income taxes paid 1,585 2,508 2,126

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 1.Organization and environment

The primary activities of OAO LUKOIL (the “Companyand its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
oil exploration, production, refining, marketingdadistribution. The Company is the ultimate paremtity
of this vertically integrated group of companies.

The Group was established in accordance with Rea8al Decree 1403, issued on November 17, 1992.
Under this decree, on April 5, 1993, the Governnadrthe Russian Federation transferred to the Compa
51% of the voting shares of fifteen enterprisesdé&inGovernment Resolution 861 issued on September 1
1995, a further nine enterprises were transferoethé Group during 1995. Since 1995, the Group has
carried out a share exchange program to increasshdreholding in each of the twenty-four founding
subsidiaries to 100%.

From formation, the Group has expanded substantiabugh consolidation of its interests, acquisitpf
new companies and establishment of new businesses.

Business and economic environment

The accompanying financial statements reflect mamamt's assessment of the impact of the business
environment in the countries in which the Grouprafpes on the operations and the financial posiiote
Group. The future business environments may diften management’s assessment.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have besyaped by the Company in accordance with accogintin
principles generally accepted in the United Stafesmerica (“US GAAP”).

Note 2.Summary of significant accounting policies
Principles of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include fthencial position and results of the Company,
controlled subsidiaries of which the Company disectr indirectly owns more than 50% of the voting
interest, unless non-controlling stockholders haubstantive participating rights, and variable rese
entities where the Group is determined to be themagry beneficiary. Other significant investments in
companies of which the Company directly or indinecwns between 20% and 50% of the voting interest
and over which it exercises significant influenag bot control, are accounted for using the equigthod

of accounting. Investments in companies of whiah @ompany directly or indirectly owns more than 50%
of the voting interest but where non-controllingcitholders have substantive participating rights ar
accounted for using the equity method of accountundivided interests in oil and gas joint ventuaes
accounted for using the proportionate consolidat@thod. Investments in other companies are redaatle
cost. Equity investments and investments in othempanies are included in “Investments” in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymwith US GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repatedunts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effifiancial statements, and the reported amountsveihues
and expenses during the reporting period. SigmifidGeems subject to such estimates and assumptions
include the carrying value of oil and gas propertad other property, plant and equipment, goodwill
impairment assessment, asset retirement obligatide$erred income taxes, valuation of financial
instruments, and obligations related to employaeefits. Eventual actual amounts could differ frdroge
estimates.



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)
Revenue

Revenues are recognized when title passes to cestaah which point the risks and rewards of owriprsh
are assumed by the customer and the price is bxettterminable. Revenues include excise on petmole
products’ sales and duties on export sales of coildend petroleum products.

Revenues from non-cash sales are recognized aftathenarket value of the crude oil and petroleum
products sold.

Foreign currency translation

The Company maintains its accounting records irsRmnsrubles. The Company’s functional currencyés t
US dollar and the Group’s reporting currency isltfg&dollar.

For the majority of operations in the Russian Fatien and outside the Russian Federation, the UW&rds

the functional currency. Where the US dollar isfilmectional currency, monetary assets and liabgithave
been translated into US dollars at the rate priexpiéit each balance sheet date. Non-monetary censéts
liabilities have been translated into US dollardiatorical rates. Revenues, expenses and cask flawe
been translated into US dollars at rates which @pprate actual rates at the date of the transaction
Translation differences resulting from the usehafse rates are included in profit or loss.

For certain other operations, where the US doBanadt the functional currency and the economy is no
highly inflationary, assets and liabilities arenskated into US dollars at year-end exchange rateb
revenues and expenses are translated at averadpangec rates for the year. Resulting translation
adjustments are reflected as a separate compohetttes comprehensive income.

In all cases, foreign currency transaction gairgslaases are included in profit or loss.

As of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, exchartgs od 30.37, 32.20 and 30.48 Russian rubles to the
US dollar, respectively, have been used for traiosigpurposes.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly ligoigstments with an original maturity of three rti@nor
less.

Cash with restrictions on immediate use
Cash funds for which restrictions on immediate e&xdet are accounted for within other non-curreisets
Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at their transacmounts less provisions for doubtful debts. Brons
for doubtful debts are recorded to the extent tinarte is a likelihood that any of the amounts diknet be
collected. Non-current receivables are discountedhe present value of expected cash flows in éutur
periods using the original discount rate.

Inventories

The cost of finished goods and purchased prodgcteiermined using the first-in, first-out cost hoat
(FIFO). The cost of all other inventory categoliedetermined using the “average cost” method.

10



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)
Investments

Debt and equity securities are classified into ohthree categories: trading, available-for-saleheld-to-
maturity.

Trading securities are bought and held principédlly the purpose of selling in the near term. Held-t
maturity securities are those securities in whidBraup company has the ability and intent to haidilu
maturity. All securities not included in trading loeld-to-maturity are classified as available-fates

Trading and available-for-sale securities are @edrat fair value. Held-to-maturity securities sgeorded

at cost, adjusted for the amortization or accredbpremiums or discounts. Unrealized holding gand
losses on trading securities are included in pmfitoss. Unrealized holding gains and losses,ofn¢he
related tax effect, on available-for-sale secwsitiare reported as a separate component of other
comprehensive income until realized. Realized gamslosses from the sale of available-for-salersees

are determined on a specific identification baBisidends and interest income are recognized itfitpoo

loss when earned.

A permanent decline in the market value of anylatée-for-sale or held-to-maturity security belowstis
accounted for as a reduction in the carrying amoufair value. The impairment is charged to profiloss
and a new cost base for the security is establighemiums and discounts are amortized or accmted
the life of the related held-to-maturity or avalkfor-sale security as an adjustment to yield gigime
effective interest method and such amortizationawtetion is recorded in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Oil and gas properties are accounted for usingticeessful efforts method of accounting wherebyeriy
acquisitions, successful exploratory wells, all @lepment costs (including development dry holes twed
Group’s share of operators’ expenses during theldpment stage of production sharing and risk servi
contracts), and support equipment and facilitiee aeapitalized. Unsuccessful exploratory wells are
expensed when a well is determined to be non-ptoducOther exploratory expenditures, including
geological and geophysical costs are expensecas@u.

The Group continues to capitalize costs of exptogatvells and exploratory-type stratigraphic wetbs
more than one year after the completion of drillihthe well has found a sufficient quantity of eeges to
justify its completion as a producing well and ®empany is making sufficient progress towards a$sgs
the reserves and the economic and operating \tialofithe project. If these conditions are not roetf
information that raises substantial doubt about ¢kenomic or operational viability of the projeet i
obtained, the well would be assumed impaired, gddsts, net of any salvage value, would be cllatge
expense.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization of capital costs of oil and gas properties is calculatgdg the
unit-of-production method based upon proved resefee the cost of property acquisitions and proved
developed reserves for exploration and developirests.

Production and related overhead costs are expessiedurred.

Depreciation of assets not directly associated wiklproduction is calculated on a straight-linesisaover
the economic lives of such assets, estimated to e following ranges:

Buildings and constructions 5-40 Years
Machinery and equipment 5-20 Years

11



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

In addition to production assets, certain Group gamies also maintain and construct social assethéo
use of local communities. Such assets are camthlimly to the extent that they are expected toltrés
future economic benefits to the Group. If capitdizthey are depreciated over their estimated eomno
lives.

Significant unproved properties are assessed feaimment individually on a regular basis and any
estimated impairment is charged to expense.

Asset retirement obligations

The Group records the fair value of liabilitiesateld to its legal obligations to abandon, dismaotie
otherwise retire tangible long-lived assets in pleeiod in which the liability is incurred. A corgganding
increase in the carrying amount of the related Joreyl asset is also recorded. Subsequently, &gty is
accreted for the passage of time and the relatest asdepreciated using the unit-of-productionhoet

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of ajuieed entity over the net of the fair value amasunt
assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assulinisdassigned to reporting units as of the agitjoh date.
Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impaént at least on an annual basis and between atestsl

if an event occurs or circumstances change thatdvowre likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying amount. The impaént test requires assessing qualitative factodgtaen,

if it is necessary, estimating the fair value afegorting unit and comparing it with its carryinmaunt,
including goodwill assigned to the reporting ulfithe estimated fair value of the reporting usitéss than
its net carrying amount, including goodwill, théretgoodwill is written down to its implied fair wad.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives tested for impairment at least annually. Intangddeets that
have limited useful lives are amortized on a shrilime basis over the shorter of their usefulegdl lives.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as oil and gas propenigm( than unproved properties), other propergnipland
equipment, and purchased intangibles subject tataration, are assessed for impairment wheneventsve
or changes in circumstances indicate that the icyrgmount of an asset group may not be recoverable
Recoverability of assets to be held and used isured by a comparison of the carrying amount csset
group to the estimated undiscounted future castsflexpected to be generated by that group. If éneying
amount of an asset group exceeds its estimatedamdited future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized by writing down the carrying amount hie estimated fair value of the asset group, gelgeral
determined as discounted future net cash flowsetasto be disposed of are separately presenteukin t
balance sheet and reported at the lower of thejingramount or fair value less costs to sell, arelreo
longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities disposed group classified as held for sale arsemted
separately in the appropriate asset and liabiéttiens of the balance sheet.

Income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are geized in respect of the future tax consequences
attributable to temporary differences between th@ying amounts of existing assets and liabilif@sthe
purposes of the consolidated financial statememdstlaeir respective tax bases and in respect afatipg

loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred incaaeassets and liabilities are measured using eddak
rates expected to apply to taxable income in tlaesyn which those temporary differences are exketd
reverse and the assets be recovered and liabitgdked. The effect on deferred income tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognimegrofit or loss in the reporting period which indes the
enactment date.

12



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

The ultimate realization of deferred income taxetsss dependent upon the generation of futurebtaxa
income in the reporting periods in which the oraing expenditure becomes deductible. In asseskig
realizability of deferred income tax assets, mansage considers whether it is more likely than mait tthe
deferred income tax assets will be realized. Iningakhis assessment, management considers thewetied
reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, pragetfuture taxable income, and tax planning strageg

An income tax position is recognized only if thecartain position is more likely than not of being&ined
upon examination, based on its technical meriteeédgnized income tax position is measured atatgebt
amount that is greater than 50% likely of beinglized. Changes in recognition or measurement are
reflected in the period in which the change in juégt occurs. The Company records interest and fienal
relating to income tax in income tax expense irfipoo loss.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings from third parties @ptcconvertible notes) are initially recorded a talue of
net proceeds received. Any difference between gtgroceeds and the redemption value is amortized a
constant rate over the term of the borrowing. Aimation is included in profit or loss and the camg
amounts are adjusted as amortization accumulates.

For borrowings from related parties (except conbbrtnotes) issued with an interest rate lower ttren
market interest rate, the Group determines boakevaking market interest rate. The resulting diffiee is
allocated to additional paid-in capital and is ati@ed at a constant rate over the term of the bdngs.
Amortization is included in profit or loss each iperand the carrying amounts are adjusted as araticdh
accumulates.

For convertible notes issued with a cash conversjion, the Group allocates the proceeds fromaisse
between a liability component and an equity comptn&he Group records the equity component at an
amount equal to the difference between the procesmdsved and the fair value of the liability compat,
measured as the fair value of a similar liabilityatt does not have an associated equity componést. T
Group recognizes the interest cost in subsequeittdseat its borrowing rate for non-convertible teb

If borrowings are repurchased or settled beforeuritgf any difference between the amount paid dred t
carrying amount is recognized in profit or losghie period in which the repurchase or settlemeaotisc

Pension benefits

The expected costs in respect of pension obligatirGroup companies are determined by an indepgénde
actuary. Obligations in respect of each employeeaacrued over the periods during which the emgoye
renders service to the Group.

The Group recognizes the funded status of the gtirstment defined benefit plan in the consolidated
balance sheet with corresponding adjustments tonaglated other comprehensive income. The adjustment
to accumulated other comprehensive income represém net unrecognized actuarial gains and
unrecognized prior service costs. These amountsudrsequently recognized as net periodic beneit. co
Further, actuarial gains and losses that arisailisequent periods and are not recognized as niedjmer
benefit cost in the same periods are recognized asmponent of other comprehensive income. These
amounts are subsequently recognized as a compoheet periodic benefit cost on the same basihas t
amounts recognized in accumulated other compreleirsiome.

Treasury stock

Purchases by Group companies of the Company’samastg stock are recorded at cost and classified as
treasury stock within Stockholders’ equity. Shaskewn as Authorized and Issued include treasumgksto
Shares shown as Outstanding do not include treasocy.
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OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)
Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingimeome available to common stockholders of the
Company by the weighted-average number of sharemwimon stock outstanding during the reporting
period. A calculation is carried out to establighthere is potential dilution in earnings per shdare
convertible securities were to be converted intaraf of common stock or contracts to issue shares o
common stock were to be exercised. If there is slilation, diluted earnings per share is presented.

Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of the balance tstiate, which may result in losses to the Grouptbet
impact of which will only be resolved when one asma future events occur or fail to occur.

If a Group company’s assessment of a contingerdigates that it is probable that a material loss theen
incurred and the amount of the liability can benested, then the estimated liability is accrued anadrged
to profit or loss. If the assessment indicates #ghpotentially material loss is not probable, Isutdasonably
possible, or is probable, but cannot be reasonesiiynated, then the nature of the contingent ligbil
together with an estimate of the range of posddss, is disclosed in the notes to the consolidéiteshcial
statements. Loss contingencies considered rematdated to unasserted claims are generally notatied
unless they involve guarantees, in which case &lagre of the guarantee is disclosed.

Environmental expenditures

Estimated losses from environmental remediationigabbns are generally recognized no later than
completion of remedial feasibility studies. Grougmpanies accrue for losses associated with enveatah
remediation obligations when such losses are pielminl reasonably estimable. Such accruals arstadju
as further information becomes available or cirdamses change. Costs of expected future expenslitore
environmental remediation obligations are not disted to their present value.

Use of derivative instruments

The Group’s derivative activity is limited to cdrtgpetroleum products’ marketing and trading operst
and hedging of commodity price risks. Currenthstactivity involves the use of futures and swapdracts
together with purchase and sale contracts thatifgued derivative instruments. The Group accouots f
these activities under the mark-to-market methaglolo which the derivatives are revalued each acting
period. Resulting realized and unrealized gaindosses are presented in profit or loss on a ne.bas
Unrealized gains and losses are carried as ags@bibities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Share-based payments

The Group accounts for liability classified shaeséd payment awards to employees at fair valuénen t
date of grant and as of each reporting date. Exqzease recognized over the vesting period. Equity
classified share-based payment awards to emplogeewvalued at fair value on the date of grant and
expensed over the vesting period.

Comparative amounts

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassifiambnform with the current period’s presentation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)
Changes in accounting policy

In September 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Statsd Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-08/Testing
Goodwill for Impairment,” which allows an entity to use a qualitative applodo test goodwill for
impairment. This ASU permits an entity to first @ss qualitative factors to determine whether ih@e
likely than not that the fair value of a reportiagit is less than its carrying amount and hencethérdt is
necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impaimtrtest as required by the provisions of Topic 850
the Codification. ASU No. 2011-08 is effective famnual and interim goodwill impairment tests parfed

for the fiscal years beginning after December 13112 The Group adopted the requirements of ASU
No. 2011-08 starting from the first quarter of 20This adoption did not have a material impact lo@ t
Group’s results of operations, financial positiarcash flows and did not require additional discles.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011*BBesentation of comprehensive incomeyhich amends
Topic 220 of the Caodification. This ASU increasée tprominence of other comprehensive income in
financial statements. Under this ASU, an entity tiesoption to present the components of net incante
comprehensive income in either one or two stateséertte ASU eliminates the option in US GAAP to
present other comprehensive income in the stateafieritanges in equity. ASU No. 2011-05 is effecfime
public entities for fiscal years, and interim pesowithin those years, beginning after December203,1
(except those reclassification adjustments deferdogd ASU No. 2011-12) and should be applied
retrospectively. The Group adopted the requiremehsSU No. 2011-05 starting from the first quartdr
2012. This adoption changed the presentation ohndtcomprehensive incomes and stockholders’ gquity
but did not have any impact on the Group’s resafltsperations, financial position or cash flows.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-OAmendments to Achieve Common Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in US GAA®P IFRSs,”which amends Topic 820 of the
Codification. This ASU provides guidance for famlwe measurements and disclosure requirements and
clarifies the Board’s intent about the applicatafrexisting fair value measurement requirement® féw
standard does not extend the use of fair valuerhthter, provides guidance about how fair valueukhbe
applied where it already is required or permittedar US GAAP. ASU No. 2011-04 is effective for gabl
entities during interim and annual periods begignafter December 15, 2011 and should be applied
prospectively. The Group adopted the requiremeh#sSdJ) No. 2011-04 starting from the first quartdr o
2012. This adoption did not have a material immacthe Group’s results of operations, financialifis

or cash flows.

In April 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-0&,Creditor's Determination of Whether a Restrudhg

Is a Troubled Debt Restructuringyvhich amends Topic 310 of the Codification. ThiSWA provides
additional guidance in considering whether a restming constitutes a troubled debt restructurind helps
creditors in determining whether a creditor hastgd a concession and whether a debtor is expérgnc
financial difficulties. ASU No. 2011-02 is effectistarting from the first interim or annual perimehinning
on or after June 15, 2011. The Group adopted tipginements of ASU No. 2011-02 starting from thedhi
quarter of 2011. This adoption did not have a ni@ténpact on the Group’s results of operationsaficial
position or cash flows and did not require addaiodisclosures.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-Tisclosures about Offsetting Assets and
Liabilities.” This ASU requires entities to disclose informatadyout offsetting and related arrangements to
enable users of its financial statements to undedsthe effect of those arrangements on its firsnci
position. The scope includes derivatives, sale r@pdirchase agreements and reverse sale and repaircha
agreements, and securities borrowing and secul@eing arrangements. ASU No. 2011-11 is effediore
annual reporting periods beginning on or after dayd, 2013, and interim periods within those ahnua
periods, and should be applied retrospectively.
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(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

In January 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013&Hlance Sheet (Topic 210): Clarifying the Scope of
Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabiljitieshich clarifies that ordinary trade receivables and
receivables are not in the scope of ASU No. 2011FhE Group is evaluating the effect of the adaptd
ASU No. 2011-11 and does not expect any materiphghon its results of operations, financial positor
cash flows.

Note 3.Cash and cash equivalents

As of December As of December

31,2012 31,2011

Cash held in Russian rubles 571 926
Cash held in US dollars 1,816 1,224
Cash held in other currencies 403 271
Cash held in related party banks in Russian rubles 117 309
Cash held in related party banks in other currencies 7 23
Total cash and cash equivalents 2,914 2,753

Note 4.Non-cash transactions

The consolidated statement of cash flows excludesffect of non-cash transactions, which are dssdr
in the following table:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Non-cash investing activity 18 6 67
Total non-cash transactions 18 6 67

The following table shows the effect of non-castnsactions on investing activity:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Net cash used in investing activity 13,216 10,773 7,296
Non-cash investing activity 18 6 67
Total investing activity 13,234 10,779 7,363
Note 5.Accounts receivable, net
As of December As of December
31, 2012 31, 2011
Trade accounts receivablef of provisions of $247 million and $179 million
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively) 6,431 7,209
Current VAT and excise recoverable 1,862 1,333
Other current accounts receivahiet(of provisions of $57 million and $54 million as
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively) 374 379
Total accounts receivable, net 8,667 8,921
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Note 6.Inventories

As of December

As of December

31,2012 31, 2011
Crude oil and petroleum products 6,765 6,265
Materials for extraction and drilling 387 321
Materials and supplies for refining 93 57
Other goods, materials and supplies 853 890
Total inventories 8,098 7,533

Note 7.lnvestments

As of December

As of December

31,2012 31, 2011
Investments in equity method affiliates and joiahtures 2,794 4,887
Long-term loans to equity method affiliates anchfoientures 1,312 1,001
Other long-term investments 18 64
Total long-term investments 4,124 5,952

Investments in “equity method” affiliates and jointentures

The summarized financial information below is irspect of equity method affiliates and corporatetjoi
ventures. The companies are primarily engaged udecroil exploration, production, marketing and
distribution operations in the Russian Federat@ngde oil production and marketing in Kazakhstamd a

refining operations in Europe.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Group’s Group’s Group’s
Total share Total share Total share
Revenues 29,618 4,160 32,770 4,777 24,348 3,672
Income before income taxes 13,617 945 13,832 1,005 9,187 675
Less income taxes (5,387) (427) (4,241) (315) (2,682) (203)
Net income 8,230 518 9,591 690 6,505 472

As of December 31, 2012

As of December 31, 2011

Group’s Group’s

Total Share Total share
Current assets 6,399 983 7,379 1,406
Property, plant and equipment 18,738 4,015 19,064 5,587
Other non-current assets 523 167 1,454 462
Total assets 25,660 5,165 27,897 7,455
Short-term debt 1,182 277 1,100 223
Other current liabilities 3,409 496 3,703 668
Long-term debt 7,717 1,256 7,461 1,069
Other non-current liabilities 1,406 342 1,581 608
Net assets 11,946 2,794 14,052 4,887
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Note 7. Investments (continued)

In April 2011, the Company and OAO ANK Bashneftr@d an agreement to establish a joint venture@nd t
develop two oil fields named after R.Trebs and faV; located in the Nenets Autonomous District of
Russia. According to the agreement, the minerditsigor the development of the fields were re-igishg
OAO ANK Bashneft in favor of its 100% subsidiary O@ashneft-Polus. In December 2011, the Company
acquired 25.1% of OO0 Bashneft-Polus for $153 omlliand OOO Bashneft-Polus acquired 29 exploration
wells located on these fields from a Group compfmmy$60 million. The parties agreed to transpoft oi
extracted from the fields via the Group’s transation infrastructure and to consider the explaitatof
certain other nearby infrastructure owned by theu@r In May 2012, state authorities cancelled tiaeoto
transfer the mineral rights for the developmenth# fields named after R.Trebs and A.Titov to thiaj
venture and the license was returned to OAO ANKhBaft. Management does not believe that this matter
will have a material adverse effect on the Groujancial condition. The Company and OAO ANK
Bashneft are continuing their cooperation withia fitoject and are carrying out actions for re-insaeof

the mineral rights by the state authorities in fasOOO Bashneft-Polus.

Note 8.Property, plant and equipment and asset retiremenobligations

At cost Net
As of December As of December As of December As of December
31,2012 31,2011 31,2012 31,2011
Exploration and Production:
Russia 61,123 54,269 39,092 34,415
International 9,700 8,138 7,487 6,376
Total 70,823 62,407 46,579 40,791
Refining, Marketing, Distribution and Chemicals:
Russia 13,600 12,133 8,140 7,395
International 10,297 6,903 7,375 4,282
Total 23,897 19,036 15,515 11,677
Power generation and other:
Russia 5,621 4,890 4,501 4,026
International 429 406 288 309
Total 6,050 5,296 4,789 4,335
Total property, plant and equipment 100,770 86,739 6883 56,803

The Company performs a regular annual impairmesttakits assets. The test is based on geologiodkia
and development programs, which are revised omalaebasis, at least annually. The fair valueestdad
assets is determined using the present value oéxpected cash flows. Fair value measurements sodel
used in the impairment tests were Level 3 (unolad#evinputs) fair value measurements.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynmognized an impairment loss on exploration and
production assets of OOO Narianmarneftegaz (“NMN{®"the amount of $1,175 million, as well as an
impairment loss of $175 million for assets relatedhe international refining, marketing and distition
segment.

The following tables set out values of propertyantl and equipment measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis in periods subsequent to théiai recognition:

Level 3 fair value
Fair value measurements Before-tax loss

Year ended December 31, 2011
Property, plant and equipment 1,195 1,195 1,350
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Note 8. Property, plant and equipment and asset reement obligations (continued)

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the asset ratimenbligations amounted to $2,200 million and 38,1
million, respectively, of which $5 million and $6iltion was included in “Other current liabilitiesh the
consolidated balance sheets as of each balancedstiee

During 2012 and 2011, asset retirement obligatatvaged as follows:

2012 2011
Asset retirement obligations as of January 1 2,126 1,798
Accretion expense 172 158
New obligations 147 172
Changes in estimates of existing obligations (263) 173
Spending on existing obligations (5) (5)
Property dispositions (20) (5)
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments 33 (165)
Asset retirement obligations as of December 31 2,200 2,126

The asset retirement obligations incurred during22@nd 2011 were Level 3 (unobservable inputs) fair
value measurements.

Note 9.Suspended wells

Net changes in capitalized exploratory suspendddoasts during 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows

2012 2011 2010

Balance as of January 1 542 478 479
Additions pending the determination of proved ressr 25 97 156
Charged to expenses - - (94)
Reclassification to proved properties (43) (33) (63)
Balance as of December 31 524 542 478

Aging of capitalized suspended exploratory welltsagere as follows:

As of December As of December As of December
31, 2012 31, 2011 31, 2010
Exploratory well costs capitalized
for a period of one year or less 21 78 148
for two years 66 144 72
for three years 133 72 89
for four years 67 82 155
for five years or more 237 166 14
for a period of greater than one year 503 464 330
Total exploratory well costs capitalized 524 542 478
Number of projects that have exploratory well costs
capitalized for a period greater than one year 8 14 11
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Note 9. Suspended wells (continued)

Aging of the exploratory wells that have been alj@ed for more than one year since completionritifreh
as of December 31, 2012:

As of December

Project name (field name) Location 31,2012 Years wells drilled
Block A Saudi Arabia 255 2007-2010
Cape Three Points Deep Water Ghana 92 2010
Centralno-Astrakhanskoe European Russia 80 2007-2009
Independence Cote d’lvoire 66 2011
Aral Uzbekistan 5 2010

3 projects of less than $4 million each EuropearsRus 5 2002-2009
Total of 8 projects 503

Capitalized exploratory well costs of $255 millitimat are related to two fields in the “Block A” arén
Saudi Arabia are represented by four wells drille@007-2010. The wells were suspended pending fina
assessment of the operational and economic vialdfitthe project. During 2011, to assess the requir
technology for the development and extraction of tight gas reservoirs, the Group engaged an
international engineering survey company to evaluacompletion options for the wells, to prove the
commercialization potential of the appraisal areml @0 optimize the stimulation technology for its
development. These evaluations were completedeicember 2011. During 2012, the Group held several
meetings with the project partner, Saudi Arabian Company, to confirm a common position for
negotiations of amendments to the current Upstragraement with the government of Saudi Arabia. As a
result of these meetings, the partners agreedppeach to reserves estimation, products yield alf ag
pricing and marketing matters and possible waygroject cost efficiency improvement. During 201132 t
partners will submit the proposals on field evalmtand project implementation measures for
consideration and approval by the Saudi ArabianeBawent with the view of taking a decision on ferth
project development.

Capitalized exploratory well costs of $92 millidmat are related to block “Cape Three Points DeefeWt/a

in Ghana are represented by one exploratory welttwHiscovered an oil and gas condensate field and
confirmed the presence of reserves within the bl@hke appraisal well was drilled in 2011, which was
unsuccessful and written off. The Group extendedettploratory period until 2013. Additionally, acdimg

to signed contract for rig rental one exploratosflwvill be drilled during 2013.

Capitalized exploratory well costs of $80 milliomat are related to Centralno-Astrakhanskoe gad fiel
European part of Russia are represented by twooratply wells drilled in 2007-2009. Seismic and
geophysical works, as well as drilling of structusells are planned on the field during 2013-201®ider

to determine the position of future exploratory el

Capitalized exploratory well costs of $66 milliomat are related to block “Cl-401” in Cote d’lvoieze
represented by one exploratory well. During 20X Group and other participants entered into the
appraisal period till June 30, 2014. According igned contract for rig rental one appraisal welll e
drilled during 2013.

The Company is evaluating the development planth®other projects.
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Note 10.Goodwill and other intangible assets

The carrying value of goodwill and other intangilalesets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was as
follows:

As of December 31, As of December 31,

2012 2011

Amortized intangible assets
Software 419 389
Licenses and other assets 276 343
Goodwill 1,269 612
Total goodwill and other intangible assets 1,964 1,344

All goodwill amounts relate to the refining, markegt and distribution segment. In the third quagiep012,
the Group obtained control over the joint ventureiol operates the ISAB refinery (Priolo, Italy) and
recognized goodwill in the amount of $646 milliaefer to Note 17. Business combinations). Additlona
goodwill in the amount of $11 million relates tdet acquisitions.

Note 11.Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt

As of December 31, As of December 31,

2012 2011
Short-term borrowings from third parties 113 118
Short-term borrowings from related parties 13 30
Current portion of long-term debt 532 1,644
Total short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 658 1,792

Short-term borrowings from third parties are unseduand include amounts repayable in US dollars of
$54 million and $56 million, amounts repayable ior& of $11 million and $17 million and amounts
repayable in other currencies of $48 million and $4illion as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The weighted-average interest ratehamt-term borrowings from third parties was 5.7&64
4.93% per annum as of December 31, 2012 and 264fectively.

Note 12.Long-term debt

As of December 31, As of December 31,

2012 2011

Long-term loans and borrowings from third partiesiuding loans from banks
in the amount of $885 million and $1,120 millionch®ecember 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively) 1,287 2,652
6.375% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing420 898 897
2.625% convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2015 1,436 1,412
6.356% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing20 500 500
7.250% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturingg®0 596 596
6.125% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing@®0 998 998
6.656% non-convertible US dollar bonds, maturing20 500 500
13.35% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 - 776
9.20% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 - 311
7.40% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2013 198 186
Capital lease obligations 82 116
Total long-term debt 6,495 8,944
Current portion of long-term debt (532) (1,644)
Total non-current portion of long-term debt 5,963 7,300
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Note 12. Long-term debt (continued)
Long-term loans and borrowings

Long-term loans and borrowings from third partieslude amounts repayable in US dollars of $1,037
million and $834 million, amounts repayable in B $230 million and $284 million, amounts repdgab
in Russian rubles of $1 million and $1,514 milliamd amounts repayable in other currencies of $ll®m
and $20 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2044pectively. This debt has maturity dates from 2013
through 2023. The weighted-average interest ratmgterm loans and borrowings from third partiess
2.28% and 5.39% per annum as of December 31, 20d2@11, respectively. A number of long-term loan
agreements contain certain financial covenants hwhie being met by the Group. Approximately 33% of
total long-term loans and borrowings from thirdtpes are secured by export sales and propertyt plach
equipment.

A Group company has a secured loan agreement wstanADevelopment bank, BNP Paribas (Suisse),
Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment bank,Kbeesa Developmet bank and Islamic Development bank
with an outstanding amount of $197 million as ofcBeber 31, 2012. Borrowings under this agreement
bear interest at three month LIBOR plus 3.00% peuan and have maturity dates up to 2020.

The Company has an unsecured syndicated loan agnéevith the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development with an outstanding amount of $126iamillas of December 31, 2012, maturing up to 2017.
Borrowings under this agreement bear interest fsonmonth LIBOR plus 0.45% to six month LIBOR plus
0.65% per annum.

A Group company has a secured loan agreement wiglditCSuisse, supported by an Overseas Private
Investment Corporation guarantee, with an outstapdmount of $111 million as of December 31, 2012.
Borrowings under this agreement bear interestxatmsinth LIBOR plus 4.8% per annum and have maturity
dates up to 2015.

A Group company has an unsecured syndicated lo@emgnt with an outstanding amount of $105 million
as of December 31, 2012, with maturity dates uga®d3. The loan was arranged by ABN AMRO Bank,
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, BNP Paribas, TtanliBof Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, ING Bank, Mizuho
Corporate Bank and WestLB. Borrowings under thiament bear interest from three month LIBOR plus
0.85% to three month LIBOR plus 0.95% per annum.

As of December 31, 2012, the Group has a numbethefr loan agreements with fixed rates with a numbe
of banks and other organizations totaling $407iomi|l maturing from 2013 to 2023. The weighted agera
interest rate under these loans was 2.76% per annum

As of December 31, 2012, the Group has a numbethefr floating rate loan agreements with a numiber o
banks and other organizations totaling $341 milliovaturing from 2013 to 2020. The weighted average
interest rate under these loans was 0.88% per annum

US dollar convertible bonds

In December 2010, a Group company issued unsecoregrtible bonds totaling $1.5 billion with a caup
yield of 2.625% and maturity in June 2015. The lsowére placed at face value. The bonds are cohieerti
into LUKOIL ADRs (each representing one ordinargighof the Company) and currently have a conversion
price of $71.08 per ADR. Bondholders have the rightonvert the bonds into LUKOIL ADRs during the
period starting from 40 days after the issue datk ending 6 dealing days before the maturity dabe
issuer has the right to redeem the bonds afterrbleee31, 2013.
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Note 12. Long-term debt (continued)
US dollar non-convertible bonds

In November 2010, a Group company issued two tresiai non-convertible bonds totaling $1.0 billion
with a coupon yield of 6.125% and maturity in 20Z8e first tranche totaling $800 million was placdc
price of 99.081% of the bond'’s face value with sukeng yield to maturity of 6.250%. The secondchtiae
totaling $200 million was placed at a price of #3®6 of the bond’s face value with a resulting yiedd
maturity of 5.80%. These tranches have a half geapon period.

In November 2009, a Group company issued two tresiai non-convertible bonds totaling $1.5 billion.
The first tranche totaling $900 million with a caupyield of 6.375% per annum was placed with a nitgtu
of 5 years at a price of 99.474% of the bond’s fealee with a resulting yield to maturity of 6.500%he
second tranche totaling $600 million with a couyald of 7.250% per annum was placed with a maturit
of 10 years at a price of 99.127% of the bond's faalue with a resulting yield to maturity of 7.385
These tranches have a half year coupon period.

In June 2007, a Group company issued non-convertibihds totaling $1.0 billion. $500 million were
placed with a maturity of 10 years and a coupotdyid 6.356% per annum. Another $500 million were
placed with a maturity of 15 years and a coupotdyd¢ 6.656% per annum. All bonds were placed airth
face value and have a half year coupon period.

Russian ruble bonds

In December 2009, the Company issued 10 millionksexchange bonds with a face value of 1,000 Rassia
rubles each. The bonds were placed at face valilreaninaturity of 1,092 days. The bonds had a 1§2'da
coupon period and bore interest at 9.20% per anhuecember 2012, the Company redeemed all issued
bonds in accordance with the conditions of the hieade.

In August 2009, the Company issued 25 million stegkghange bonds with a face value of 1,000 Russian
rubles each. The bonds were placed at face valilreaninaturity of 1,092 days. The bonds had a 1§2'da
coupon period and bore interest at 13.35% per anhuiugust 2012, the Company redeemed all issued
bonds in accordance with the conditions of the hieade.

In December 2006, the Company issued 14 million-camvertible bonds with a face value of 1,000
Russian rubles each. Eight million bonds were mlaséh a maturity of 5 years and a coupon yield of
7.10% per annum and six million bonds were placild avmaturity of 7 years and a coupon yield o0%4
per annum. All bonds were placed at their faceevalud have a half year coupon period. In Decembit 2
the Company redeemed all issued bonds with a nyatwirifive years in accordance with the conditiariis
bond issue.

Maturities of long-term debt

Annual maturities of total long-term debt duringethext five years, including the portion classifiasl
current, are $532 million in 2013, $1,521 milliam 2014, $1,602 million in 2015, $117 million in 21
$589 million in 2017 and $2,134 million thereafter.

Note 13.Taxes

The Group is taxable in a number of jurisdictionshim and outside of the Russian Federation andy as
result, is subject to a variety of taxes as esthbll under the statutory provisions of each jurtat.

The total cost of taxation to the Group is repoitethe consolidated statements of comprehensiv@ie

as “Total income tax expense” for income taxes;Esise and export tariffs” for excise taxes, expor
tariffs and petroleum products sales taxes andTaxes other than income taxes” for other types of
taxation. In each category taxation is made upedds levied at various rates in different jurisidics.
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Note 13. Taxes (continued)

Operations in the Russian Federation are subjextRederal income tax rate of 2.0% and a regiotame
tax rate that varies from 13.5% to 18.0% at therdison of the individual regional administratiofihe
Group’s foreign operations are subject to taxebheatax rates applicable to the jurisdictions irickithey
operate.

As of January 1, 2012 and 2011, and during 20121 2td 2010, the Group did not have any unrecognize
tax benefits and thus, no interest and penaltiesegt to unrecognized tax benefits were accrued.

The Company and its Russian subsidiaries file iretam returns in Russia. With a few exceptionspine
tax returns in Russia are open to examination byRhssian tax authorities for tax years beginningd10.
Tax losses may be fully or partially used to offtetable profits in the same company in any of tdre
years following the year of loss. Until Januar2Q12, there were no provisions in the tax legishatf the
Russian Federation to permit the Group to redurabia profits of a Group company by offsetting tax
losses of another Group company against such grofit

Starting from January 1, 2012, if certain conditicare met, taxpayers are able to pay income tax as
consolidated taxpayers’ group (“CTG”"). This allotexpayers to offset taxable losses generated hgicer
participants of a CTG against taxable profits dfentparticipants of the CTG. Certain Group companiet
the legislative requirements and paid income tax @3 G starting from the first quarter of 2012.

Losses generated by a taxpayer before joining a @EGot available for offset against taxable psodif
other participants of the CTG. However, if a taxgralgaves a CTG, such losses again become avaitable
offset against future profits generated by the starpayer. The expiration period of the lossesisraded
to take account of any time spent within a CTG wtienlosses were unavailable for use.

Domestic and foreign components of income befoterire taxes were:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Domestic 12,458 12,561 10,569
Foreign 1,265 558 901
Income before income taxes 13,723 13,119 11,470

Domestic and foreign components of income taxeg wer

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Current
Domestic 2,178 2,159 1,693
Foreign 560 519 411
Current income tax expense 2,738 2,678 2,104
Deferred
Domestic 131 581 299
Foreign (71) 34 (52)
Deferred income tax expense 60 615 247
Total income tax expense 2,798 3,293 2,351
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Note 13. Taxes (continued)

The following table is a reconciliation of the amowf income tax expense that would result fromlgpg
the Russian combined statutory income tax rate€d®f applicable to the Company to income before ireom
taxes to total income taxes:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Income before income taxes 13,723 13,119 11,470
Notional income tax at the Russian statutory rate 742 2,624 2,294
Increase (reduction) in income tax due to:
Non-deductible items, net 227 693 266
Foreign rate differences (60) 169 (4)
Domestic regional rate differences (311) (328) (226)
Change in valuation allowance 197 135 21
Total income tax expense 2,798 3,293 2,351
Taxes other than income taxes were:
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Mineral extraction tax 12,354 11,594 7,864
Social taxes and contributions 604 587 429
Property tax 535 573 518
Other taxes and contributions 173 164 167
Taxes other than income taxes 13,666 12,918 8,978

Deferred income taxes are included in the cons@idlhalance sheets as follows:

As of December As of December

31,2012 31, 2011

Other current assets 153 127
Deferred income tax assets — non-current 569 591
Other current liabilities (284) (216)
Deferred income tax liabilities — non-current (3,651) (2,790)
Net deferred income tax liability (3,213) (2,288)
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Note 13. Taxes (continued)

The following table sets out the tax effects oftregpe of temporary differences which give riseléderred
income tax assets and liabilities:

As of December As of December

31, 2012 31, 2011

Accounts receivable 4 5
Long-term liabilities 399 398
Inventories 6 13
Property, plant and equipment 344 207
Accounts payable 5 5
Operating loss carry forwards 758 646
Other 195 229
Total gross deferred income tax assets 1,711 1,503
Less valuation allowance (750) (553)
Deferred income tax assets 961 950
Property, plant and equipment (3,751) (2,870)
Accounts payable (50) (39)
Accounts receivable (143) (92)
Long-term liabilities (39) (38)
Inventories (103) (63)
Investments (38) (33)
Other (50) (104)
Deferred income tax liabilities (4,174) (3,238)
Net deferred income tax liability (3,213) (2,288)

As a result of acquisitions during 2012 the Groegognized a net deferred tax liability of $240 roil

As of December 31, 2012, retained earnings of foresubsidiaries included $18,753 million for which
deferred taxation has not been provided becausktaene of the earnings has been indefinitely porstol
through reinvestment and, as a result, such amametsconsidered to be indefinitely invested. Inct
practicable to estimate the amount of additionetsethat might be payable on such undistributediegs.

In accordance with Topic 830Foreign currency matters”of the Codification and Topic 740lncome
Taxe$ of the Codificationdeferred tax assets and liabilities are not reaaghfor the changes in exchange
rate effects resulting from the translation of sactions and balances from the Russian ruble tdJ®e
dollar using historical exchange rates. Also, inaadance with Topic 740 of the Codification, noateéd
tax assets or liabilities are recognized for tHea$ of the related statutory indexation of préypgulant and
equipment.

Based upon the levels of historical taxable incaane projections for future taxable income over the
periods in which the deferred income tax assetsladeictible, management believes it is more likebn
not that Group companies will realize the beneaditshe deductible temporary differences and lossyca
forwards, net of existing valuation allowances BBecember 31, 2012 and 2011.

As of December 31, 2012, the Group had operatisg lcarry forwards of $2,490 million of which
$566 million expire during 2013, $119 million expiduring 2014, $1 million expire during 2015,
$1 million expire during 2016, $1 million expire rig 2018, $2 million expire during 2019,
$2 million expire during 2020, $712 million expirduring 2021, $10 million expire during 2022,
$11 million expire during 2035 and $1,065 millioave an indefinite carry forward.
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Note 14.Pension benefits

The Group sponsors a postretirement defined bepefitsion program that covers the majority of the
Group’s employees. One type of pension plan isdaseyears of service, final remuneration levelofas
the end of 2003 and employee gratitude, receivemhglthe period of work. The other type of pengpban

is based on the salary. These plans are solelgdathby Group companies. Simultaneously employaes h
the right to receive pension benefits with a shereed payment by the Group (up to 4% of the arsalaty

of the employee). Plan assets and pensions pagidfsnanaged by a non-state pension fund, LUKOIL-
GARANT.

The Group also provides several long-term sociakfits, including lump-sum death-in-service benéfit
case of disability and upon retirement paymentsoAlertain payments are received by retired empbkye
upon reaching a certain old age and invalidity.

The Company uses December 31 as the measuremenfoddts post employment and post retirement
benefits program. An independent actuary has asddake benefit obligations as of December 31, 204P
2011.

The following table provides information about thenefit obligations and plan assets as of DeceBiber
2012 and 2011. The benefit obligations below reprethe projected benefit obligation of the pengitam.

2012 2011
Benefit obligations
Benefit obligations as of January 1 260 296
Effect of exchange rate changes 17 (14)
Service cost 14 15
Interest cost 19 22
Plan amendments 12 (4)
Actuarial loss 18 -
Benefits paid (45) (52)
Curtailment gain (1) 3)
Benefit obligations as of December 31 294 260
Plan assets
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 105 112
Effect of exchange rate changes 7 (6)
Return on plan assets 8 2
Employer contributions 45 49
Benefits paid (45) (52)
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 120 105
Funded status (174) (155)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance shess of December 31,
2012 and 2011
Accrued benefit liabilities included in “Other lostigrm liabilities” (158) (128)
Accrued benefit liabilities included in “Other cant liabilities” (16) 27)

Weighted average assumptions used to determinditellégations as of December 31, 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Discount rate 7.10% 7.80%
Rate of compensation increase 7.10% 7.30%
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Note 14. Pension benefits (continued)

Weighted average assumptions used to determingeniedic benefit costs for the year ended Decer8her
2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Discount rate 7.80% 7.80%
Rate of compensation increase 7.30% 7.70%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.63% 8.95%

Included in accumulated other comprehensive lossfd3ecember 31, 2012 and 2011, are the following
before-tax amounts that have not yet been recogizeet periodic benefit cost:

2012 2011
Unamortized prior service cost 59 61
Unrecognized actuarial loss 21 4
Total costs 80 65

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive lossdutie year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Additional loss arising during the period 15 9
Additional prior service cost from plan amendment 10 (4)
Re-classified prior service cost amortization (10) (18)
Net amount recognized for the period 15 (13)

The real returns on bonds and equities are basedhan is observed in the international markets over
extended periods of time. In the calculation of élxpected return on assets no use is made of sharibal
returns LUKOIL-GARANT has achieved.

In addition to the plan assets, LUKOIL-GARANT holdssets in the form of an insurance reserve. The
purpose of this insurance reserve is to satisfisipanobligations should the plan assets not becserft to
meet pension obligations. The Group’s contributit;mthe pension plan are determined without comsige
the assets in the insurance reserve.

The plans are funded on a discretionary basis tfraa solidarity account, which is held in trust fwit
LUKOIL-GARANT. LUKOIL-GARANT does not allocate sepately identifiable assets to the Group or its
other third party clients. All funds of plan assatal other individual pension accounts are managed
pool of investments.

The asset allocation of the investment portfoliam@ned by LUKOIL-GARANT for the Group and its
clients was as follows:

As of December As of December

Type of assets 31, 2012 31, 2011
Eurobonds 8% 4%
Russian corporate bonds 4% 28%
Bank deposits 74% 44%
Equity securities of Russian issuers - 6%
Shares of OAO LUKOIL - 2%
Shares in investment funds 11% 13%
Cash 1% -
Other assets 2% 3%
100% 100%
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Note 14. Pension benefits (continued)

The investment strategy employed by LUKOIL-GARANciudes an overall goal to attain a maximum
investment return, while guaranteeing the principatlount invested. The strategy is to invest with a
medium-term perspective while maintaining a levelliguidity through proper allocation of investment

assets. Investment policies include rules andditiaibs to avoid concentrations of investments.

The investment portfolio is primarily comprised iofrfestments: bank deposits and securities withdfixe
yield. The securities with fixed yield include miirhigh yield corporate bonds with low and mediuskr
ratings. Maturities range from one to three years.

Components of net periodic benefit cost were devid:

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Service cost 14 15 16
Interest cost 19 22 23
Less expected return on plan assets 9) (10) (12)
Amortization of prior service cost 13 17 18
Curtailment gain - (2) 3)
Total net periodic benefit cost 37 42 43

Total employer contributions for 2013 are expedtete $49 million. An amount of $16 million befotax
is included in other comprehensive income and egpleio be recognized in the net periodic beneft oo
2013.

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture services, as appropriate, are expeotde t
paid:

5-year period 5-year period
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2013-2017 2018-2022

Pension benefits 17 15 15 15 15 77 61
Other long-term employee benefits 32 17 17 16 17 99 75
Total expected benefits to be paid 49 32 32 31 32 617 136

Note 15.Stockholders’ equity

Common stock

As of December As of December
31, 2012 31, 2011
(thousands of shares) (thousands of shares)
Authorized and issued common stock, par value@® Russian rubles each 850,563 850,563
Treasury stock (95,697) (76,101)
Outstanding common stock 754,866 774,462

Dividends and dividend limitations

Profits available for distribution to common stoolders in respect of any reporting period are deiteed
by reference to the statutory financial statemefitdie Company prepared in accordance with the lafws
the Russian Federation and denominated in Russides: Under Russian Law, dividends are limitethto
net profits of the reporting year as set out indtautory financial statements of the Company.séhaws
and other legislative acts governing the rightsleireholders to receive dividends are subject tous
interpretations.
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Note 15. Stockholders’ equity (continued)

The Company’s net profits were 217,807 million Rassrubles, 271,934 million Russian rubles and
139,853 million Russian rubles respectively for 202011 and 2010, pursuant to the statutory fir@nci
statements, which at the US dollar exchange ratesf ®ecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, amounted to
$7,171 million, $8,446 million and $4,589 milliorgspectively.

At the extraordinary stockholders’ meeting on Deberi8, 2012, interim dividends were declared fat2
in the amount of 40.00 Russian rubles per commareshvhich at the date of the meeting was equivaten
$1.30. Dividends payable of $12 million and $10limil are included in “Other current liabilities” ithe
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,8@12011, respectively.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 2722@ividends were declared for 2011 in the amodint o
75.00 Russian rubles per common share, which atdteeof the meeting was equivalent to $2.26.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 2312@ividends were declared for 2010 in the amodint o
59.00 Russian rubles per common share, which atdteeof the meeting was equivalent to $2.11.

Earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per shareliese years was as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Net income 11,004 10,357 9,006
Add back interest and accretion on 2.625% convertits

dollar bonds, maturing 2015 (net of tax at effextiate) 64 63 3
Total diluted net income 11,068 10,420 9,009
Weighted average number of outstanding common share

(thousands of shares) 760,588 778,964 822,359
Add back treasury shares held in respect of coinerdebt

(thousands of shares) 20,509 20,383 892
Weighted average number of outstanding common share

assuming dilution (thousands of shares) 781,097 9,34y 823,251
Earnings per share of common stock attributable to
OAO LUKOIL (US dollars):
Basic 14.47 13.30 10.95
Diluted 14.17 13.04 10.94

Note 16.Financial and derivative instruments
Fair value

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents (L&yeturrent and long-term accounts receivable ¢L8Y
are approximately equal to their value as disclésdade consolidated financial statements. Thevalue of
long-term receivables was determined by discountiitlhp estimated market interest rates for similar
financing arrangements.

The fair value of long-term debt (Level 3) diffédrem the amount disclosed in the consolidated fomn
statements. The estimated fair value of long-teeht s of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $7,035
million and $8,666 million, respectively, as a rfési discounting using estimated market interesés for
similar financing arrangements. These amounts declall future cash outflows associated with thegion
term debt repayments, including the current porao interest. Market interest rates mean the mites
raising long-term debt by companies with a simdeedit rating for similar tenors, repayment schedwnd
similar other main terms. During the year endeddbdwer 31, 2012, the Group did not have significant
transactions or events that would result in nomfora assets and liabilities measured at fair valoea
nonrecurring basis.
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Note 16. Financial and derivative instruments (coribued)
Derivative instruments

The Group uses financial and commodity-based diérev@ontracts to manage exposures to fluctuations
foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prioegp exploit market opportunities. Since the Grasip
not currently using hedge accounting, defined bgid815,“Derivative and hedging,”of the Codification,
all gains and losses, realized or unrealized, flenivative contracts have been recognized in poofioss.

Topic 815 of the Codification requires purchase aatks contracts for commodities that are readily
convertible to cash (e.g., crude oil, natural gad gasoline) to be recorded on the balance sheet as
derivatives unless the contracts are for quantitiesGroup expects to use or sell over a reasomeied in

the normal course of business (i.e., contractsbédidor the normal purchases and normal salespixu®.

The Group does apply the normal purchases and heates exception to certain long-term contractseib

oil products. This normal purchases and normalssekeeption is applied to eligible crude oil anfined
product commodity purchase and sales contracts.ederythe Group may elect not to apply this exoepti
(e.g., when another derivative instrument will [sedito mitigate the risk of a purchase or saleraohbut
hedge accounting will not be applied; in which chséh the purchase or sales contract and the diegva
contract mitigating the resulting risk will be reded on the balance sheet at fair value).

The fair value hierarchy for the Group’s derivatigsets and liabilities accounted for at fair vadnea
recurring basis was:

As of December 31, 2012 As of December 31, 2011
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Commodity derivatives - 417 - 417 - 575 - 575
Total assets - 417 - 417 - 575 - 575
Liabilities

Commaodity derivatives - (459) - (459) - (599) - (599)
Total liabilities - (459) - (459) - (599) - (599)
Net liabilities - (42) - (42) - (24) - (24)

The derivative values above are based on an asaysiach contract as the fundamental unit of atcasi
required by Topic 820;Fair Value Measurements and Disclosuresgf the Codification. Therefore,
derivative assets and liabilities with the samenterparty are not reflected net where the legaitriaf
offset exists. Gains or losses from contracts ia [@mvel may be offset by gains or losses on cotsrac
another level or by changes in values of physicaltracts or positions that are not reflected in tidgde
above.

Commodity derivatives are valued using quotatiorided by brokers and price index developers. &hes
quotes are corroborated with market data and assiflied as Level 2. Commodity derivatives are edlu
using industry-standard models that consider variassumptions, including quoted forward prices for
commodities, time value, volatility factors, anchtactual prices for the underlying instrumentsyad as
other relevant economic measures.

Commodity derivative contracts

The Group operates in the worldwide crude oil,nedi product, natural gas and natural gas liquidkets

and is exposed to fluctuations in the prices feisthcommaodities. These fluctuations can affecGitmip’s
revenues as well as the cost of operating, invgstind financing activities. Generally, the Groupddicy is

to remain exposed to the market prices of comnexslitHowever, the Group uses futures, forwards, swap
and options in various markets to balance physigalems, meet customer needs, manage price exposure
on specific transactions, and do an immaterial arhofitrading not directly related to the Grouplsypical
business. These activities may move the Group'Sl@mway from market average prices.
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Note 16. Financial and derivative instruments (coribued)

The fair value of commodity derivative assets aahblilities as of December 31, 2012 was:

As of December 31,

2012
Assets
Accounts receivable 417
Liabilities
Accounts payable (459)

Hedge accounting has not been used for items itatiie.

As required under Topic 815 of the Codification #irmounts shown in the preceding table are presented
gross (i.e., without netting assets and liabilivggh the same counterparty where the right of eiffsnd
intent to net exist). Derivative assets and ligilesi resulting from eligible commodity contractsréeeen
netted in the consolidated balance sheet and amerded as accounts receivable in the amount of
$55 million and accounts payable in the amountSaf illion.

Financial results from commodity derivatives wereclided in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income in “Cost of purchased crude gas and products”. Realized losses were
$300 million and unrealized losses were $21 millfionthe year ended December 31, 2012 and realized
losses were $667 million and unrealized gains Bé&@emillion for the year ended December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2012, the net position of outditay commodity derivative contracts, primarily to
manage price exposure on underlying operations asignificant.

Currency exchange rate derivative contracts

The Group has foreign currency exchange rate gsklting from its international operations. The @ro
does not comprehensively hedge the exposure t@royrrate changes, although the Group selectively
hedges certain foreign currency exchange rate exesssuch as firm commitments for capital projects
local currency tax payments and dividends.

The fair value of foreign currency derivatives assand liabilities open as of December 31, 2012 mas
significant.

The impact from foreign currency derivatives durihg year ended December 31, 2012 on the consadidat
statements of comprehensive income was not significThe net position of outstanding foreign cucken
swap contracts as of December 31, 2012 also wasigrtficant.

Credit risk

The Group’s financial instruments that are potéigtiaxposed to concentrations of credit risk consis
primarily of cash equivalents, over-the-counteradive contracts and trade receivables. Cash atgnts
are placed in high-quality commercial paper, momayket funds and time deposits with major inteorzl
banks and financial institutions.

The credit risk from the Group’s over-the-counteridative contracts, such as forwards and swaps/ete
from the counterparty to the transaction, typicalymajor bank or financial institution. Individual
counterparty exposure is managed within predetexthicredit limits and includes the use of cash-call
margins when appropriate, thereby reducing the afskignificant non-performance. The Group alsosuse
futures contracts, but futures have a negligibleditrrisk because they are traded on the New York
Mercantile Exchange or the ICE Futures.
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Note 16. Financial and derivative instruments (coribued)

Certain of the Group’s derivative instruments confarovisions that require the Group to post celiat if
the derivative exposure exceeds a threshold amdtetGroup has contracts with fixed threshold an®un
and other contracts with variable threshold amotims$ are contingent on the Group’s credit ratifilge
variable threshold amounts typically decline fowés credit ratings, while both the variable andeéix
threshold amounts typically revert to zero if theo@’s credit rating falls below investment gra@ash is
the primary collateral in all contracts; howevegny contracts also permit the Group to post lettérsedit
as collateral.

There were no derivative instruments with such itmésk-related contingent features that were Irahility
position on December 31, 2012. The Group postedndilldn in collateral in the normal course of busss
for the over-the-counter derivatives. If the Graupredit rating were lowered one level from its ‘BB
rating (per Standard and Poors) on December 32,201 it would be below investment grade, the @rou
would be required to post additional collateraéfmillion to the Group’s counterparties for theepthe-
counter derivatives, either with cash or letteridit. The maximum additional collateral basedtioa
lowest downgrade would be $14 million in total.

Note 17.Business combinations

In January 2012, the Group received a notice tieaBbard of Directors of ERG S.p.A. (“ERG”) decided
exercise its option to sell to the Group a furtB@% interest in the joint venture which operates I®AB
refining complex (Priolo, Italy). The notice wasceéved in accordance with the initial agreementttos
establishment of the joint venture signed in 2008s agreement gave the second investor — ERebgte
step put option to sell its share in the joint weatto the Group. The transaction was approvedurgiean
regulatory authorities and was completed in Sepgen2012. After final adjustments, its amount tafale
€494 million (approximately $621 million). Accordjly, the Group’s stake in the joint venture inceshs
from 60% to 80% and in accordance with the initigteement on the establishment of the joint verthee
Group obtained control and consolidated this jognture. The Group allocated $646 million to godbwi
$2,914 million to property, plant and equipmentd®million to deferred tax liability, $1,024 millioto
current assets and $444 million to current lialedit The value of property, plant and equipment was
determined by an independent appraiser.

The acquisition-date fair value of the equity ietrin ISAB held by the Group immediately before th
acquisition date was $2,074 million. As a resultevheasuring the equity interest in ISAB held imratzly
before the business combination to fair value theu@ recognized a gain of $3 million as other non-
operating income. To measure the acquisition-date alue a present value technique (level 3) was
employed.

This business combination did not have a mateniglaict on the Group’s consolidated operations fer th
year ended December 31, 2012. Therefore, no prod@ncome statement information has been provided.

Note 18.Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity

The Group and ConocoPhillips had a joint venture N®Awhich develops oil reserves in the Timan-
Pechora region of the Russian Federation. The GamgpConocoPhillips had equal voting rights over th
joint venture’s activity and effective ownershigarests of 70% and 30%, respectively. In Augusi22@ie
Group acquired ConocoPhillips’ investment in NMN@laertain assets related to NMNG for $604 million.
The acquisition brought the Group’s total ownershiprest in NMNG to 100%.

Up until the date of acquisition of the 30% intérdhe Group consolidated NMNG due to the fact that
NMNG was a variable interest entity and the Gro@s wonsidered to be the primary beneficiary.
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Note 19.Commitments and contingencies
Capital expenditure, exploration and investment grams

Under the terms of existing exploration and promhurcticense agreements in Russia the Group hadfith f
certain obligations: oil and gas exploration, welidling, fields development, etc., and the Gralgo has
commitments to reach a defined level of extractwonthe fields. Management believes that the Group’s
approved annual capital expenditure budgets futlyec all the requirements of the described license
obligations.

In 2012, a construction agreement for a heavy-tesidydrocracking complex at Group refinery LUKOIL
Neftochim Bourgas AD in Bulgaria was signed. Consiaising of the complex is expected in 2015.
The amount of capital commitment under this agregnseapproximately $1.1 billion.

Group companies have commitments for capital expemdcontributions in the amount of $363 million
related to various production sharing agreemengs the next 25 years.

The Company signed a strategic agreement for tlymiong provision of construction, engineering and
technical services with ZAO Globalstroy-Engineerimge volume of these services is based on theg@ou

capital construction program, which is re-evaluatedan annual basis. The Group estimates the anabunt
capital commitment under this agreement for 2018etapproximately $232 million.

The Group signed a number of agreements for 2018-20r construction of offshore platforms in the
Caspian region. As of December 31, 2012, the Grestpmates the amount of this commitment to be
approximately $1,346 million (net of advances).

The Group has a commitment to execute the camtadtouction program of its power generation segment
and under the terms of this program power planth witotal capacity of 890 MW should be constructed
Currently the Group is approving certain amendmeéatshe capital construction program, including its
extension to the end of 2014. As of December 3122the Group estimates the amount of this comnmtme
to be approximately $303 million.

Operating lease obligations

Group companies have commitments of $475 milliomarily for the lease of vessels and petroleum
distribution outlets. Operating lease expenses B2ai8 million, $175 million and $155 million durirtbe
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,ctasghe. Commitments for minimum rentals under
these leases as of December 31, 2012 are as follows

As of December

31,2012
2013 119
2014 106
2015 73
2016 48
2017 34
beyond 95
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Note 19. Commitments and contingencies (continued)
Insurance

The insurance industry in the Russian Federati@hcantain other areas where the Group has opesaiton

in the course of development. Management belidvatsthe Group has adequate property damage coverage
for its main production assets. In respect of tipedty liability for property and environmental dage
arising from accidents on Group property or retatim Group operations, the Group has insuranceragee

that is generally higher than insurance limitsisethe local legal requirements. Management bedigliat

the Group has adequate insurance coverage ofgke which could have a material effect on the @imu
operations and financial position.

Environmental liabilities

Group companies and their predecessor entities tygeeated in the Russian Federation and other geant
for many years and, within certain parts of therapens, environmental related problems have deeslo
Environmental regulations are currently under adesition in the Russian Federation and other areas
where the Group has operations. Group companiesnedyl assess and evaluate their obligations in
response to new and changing legislation.

As liabilities in respect of the Group’s environrtedrobligations are able to be determined, theycasrged
against income. The likelihood and amount of liéie# relating to environmental obligations under
proposed or any future legislation cannot be reasignestimated at present and could become material
Under existing legislation, however, managemerieles that there are no significant unrecordedliieds

or contingencies, which could have a materiallyeade effect on the operating results or finanaisition

of the Group.

Social assets

Certain Group companies contribute to Governmerdnspred programs, the maintenance of local
infrastructure and the welfare of their employeeashiw the Russian Federation and elsewhere. Such
contributions include assistance with the consioactdevelopment and maintenance of housing, halspit
and transport services, recreation and other so&ats. The funding of such assistance is perilbglica
determined by management and is appropriately a&gmt (only to the extent that they are expected t
result in future economic benefits to the Groupgxpensed as incurred.

Taxation environment

The taxation systems in the Russian Federatiorodret emerging markets where Group companies aperat
are relatively new and are characterized by nunsetaxes and frequently changing legislation, whgh
often unclear, contradictory, and subject to intetgtion. Often, differing interpretations exist @mg
different tax authorities within the same jurisébals and among taxing authorities in differentgdictions.
Taxes are subject to review and investigation bymber of authorities, who are enabled by law tpase
severe fines, penalties and interest chargeseliRtissian Federation a tax year remains open Y@wey

the tax authorities during the three subsequemndalr years. However, under certain circumstandes a
year may remain open longer. Recent events witienRussian Federation suggest that the tax au#sorit
are taking a more assertive position in their prtefation and enforcement of tax legislation. Statdtors
may create substantially more significant taxatrks in the Russian Federation and other emerging
markets where Group companies operate, than timoeéher countries where taxation regimes have been
subject to development and clarification over |pegiods.
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Note 19. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

The tax authorities in each region may have a whffeinterpretation of similar taxation issues whinay
result in taxation issues successfully defendedheyGroup in one region being unsuccessful in aroth
region. There is some direction provided from thatwal authority based in Moscow on particular texa
issues. The Group has implemented tax planningr@arhgement strategies based on existing legislation
the time of implementation. The Group is subjediatoauthority audits on an ongoing basis, as isabin
the Russian environment and other republics ofdhmer Soviet Union, and, at times, the authoritiase
attempted to impose additional significant taxegl@ Group. Management believes that it has adelyuat
met and provided for tax liabilities based on i$erpretation of existing tax legislation. Howevére
relevant tax authorities may have differing intetptions and the effects on the financial statespéhthe
authorities were successful in enforcing theirrptetations, could be significant.

Litigation and claims

On November 27, 2001, Archangel Diamond Corporai@xDC”"), a Canadian diamond development
company, filed a lawsuit in the Denver District @yuColorado against OAO Arkhangelskgeoldobycha
(“AGD"), a Group company, and the Company (togettiee “Defendants”). ADC alleged that the
Defendants interfered with the transfer of a diacherploration license to Almazny Bereg, a joint tuea
between ADC and AGD. ADC claimed compensatory dawagf $1.2 billion and punitive damages of
$3.6 billion. On October 15, 2002, the District @odismissed the lawsuit for lack of personal jdigsion.
This ruling was upheld by the Colorado Court of Apls on March 25, 2004. On November 21, 2005, the
Colorado Supreme Court affirmed the lower courtding that no specific jurisdiction exists over the
Defendants. By virtue of this finding, AGD (the el of the diamond exploration license) was disetss
from the lawsuit. The Colorado Supreme Court fourayever, that the trial court made a procedunarer
by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing beforeking its ruling concerning general jurisdiction aeding
the Company and remanded the case to the Colorada ©f Appeals to consider whether the lawsuit
should have been dismissed on alternative grourgls forum non conveniens). The Colorado Court of
Appeals declined to dismiss the case based on formmconveniens and the case was remanded to the
District Court. In June 2009, three creditors of @fled an Involuntary Bankruptcy Petition puttidpC

into bankruptcy. In November 2009, after addindadint, ADC removed the case from the District Cdort
the US Bankruptcy Court. On October 28, 2010, thekBuptcy Court granted the Company’s Motion for
Remand and Abstention and remanded the case tDeheer District Court. On October 20, 2011, the
Denver District Court dismissed all claims agaithe&t Company for lack of jurisdiction. ADC filed g

of appeal on April 17, 2012. On August 23, 201% tourt of Appeals affirmed the Denver District
Court’s dismissal for lack of jurisdiction. ADC il a Petition for Rehearing which was denied on
September 20, 2012. ADC then filed a petition foritVigf Certiorari in the Colorado Supreme Court on
October 18, 2012. The Company filed its ResponsthéoWrit on November 1, 2012. The Colorado
Supreme Court has not indicated yet if it will cioles this case. Management does not believe that th
ultimate resolution of this matter will have a mékadverse effect on the Group’s financial coiadit

On January 6, 2012, ADC filed a lawsuit in the UiStiict Court for the District of Colorado (feder@urt)
reasserting almost identical claims asserted inafloeementioned lawsuit and dismissed by the Denver
District Court (state court) notwithstanding ADGippeal of the state court’s decision. In FederalrCo
case, the Company has filed a Motion to Dismissdiacovery has been stayed pending further acliba.
Company plans to seek dismissal of the case amdougly defend the matter. Management does nag\eeli
that the ultimate resolution of this matter willvieaa material adverse effect on the Group’s financi
condition.

The Group is involved in various other claims amdal proceedings arising in the normal course of
business. While these claims may seek substariahdes against the Group and are subject to umtgrta
inherent in any litigation, management does noteliel that the ultimate resolution of such matteils w
have a material adverse impact on the Group’s tipgreesults or financial condition.
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Note 20.Related party transactions

In the rapidly developing business environmenthie Russian Federation, companies and individuais ha
frequently used nominees and other forms of intdiarg companies in transactions. The senior
management of the Company believes that the Graspappropriate procedures in place to identify and
properly disclose transactions with related partiesthis environment and has disclosed all of the
relationships identified which it deemed to be Higant. Related party sales and purchases of rall @il
products were primarily to and from affiliated commges. Related party processing services were ¢dvi
by affiliated refineries.

Below are related party transactions not discladsewhere in the financial statements. Refer aidéates
3,7,11, 14 and 21 for other transactions withtesl parties.

Sales of oil and oil products to related partiesenil,038 million, $1,298 million and $2,383 mitidor the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 ciasghp.

Other sales to related parties were $50 million4 $billion and $134 million for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Purchases of oil and oil products from relatedipanvere $409 million, $374 million and $521 mitlior
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 285tkatively.

Purchases of processing services from relatedegantere $702 million, $901 million and $719 millitor
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 285tkatively.

Other purchases from related parties were $92 anijll73 million and $39 million for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Amounts receivable from related parties, includadyances, were $496 million and $339 million as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Amouatgmlge to related parties were $85 million and
$115 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 getbeely.

Note 21.Compensation plan

During the period from 2010 to 2012, the Compang Aacompensation plan available to certain members
of management, which was based on assigned shatgs@vides compensation consisting of two parts.

The first part represented annual bonuses that based on the number of assigned shares and amiunt
dividend per share. The payment of these bonuses eomtingent on the Group meeting certain findncia
KPIs in each financial year. The second was baget the Company’'s common stock appreciation from
2010 to 2012, with rights vested in December 20k number of assigned shares for this compensation
plan was approximately 17.3 million shares.

For the first part of the share plan the Group gaced a liability based on expected dividends mmahber
of assigned shares.

The second part of the share plan originally wassgified as equity settled. The grant date faineaf the
plan was estimated at $295 million using the Bl8ckoles-Merton option-pricing model, assuming &-ris
free interest rate of 8.0% per annum, an expedtddend yield of 3.09% per annum, an expected tefm
three years and a volatility factor of 34.86%. Tewpected volatility factor was estimated based han t
historical volatility of the Company’s shares fdret previous five year period up to January 2010. In
December 2012, this compensation plan was amentdeadlation to all participants, which resulted in
reclassification of the second part of the plaa &ability. As a result of this amendment the Graacorded

an additional expense in the fourth quarter of 2@lthe amount of $33 million.
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Note 21. Compensation plan (continued)

Related to this plan the Group recorded $182 mi)li$137 million and $129 million of compensation
expense during the years ended December 31, 2012, &hd 2010 respectively, of which $98 million was
initially recognized as an increase in additionaidgin capital in each year correspondingly. Assuit of
the plan amendments that took place in the fouctartgr of 2012 $295 million was reclassified from
additional paid-in capital to liabilities. As of Dember 31, 2012 and 2011, $380 million and $28ianill
related to this plan are included in “Other curnrgadiilities” of the consolidated balance sheeg¢spectively.
The total recognized tax benefits related to theseruals were $37 million, $20 million and $21 roit
during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012610l

In late December 2012, the Company introduced a wewpensation plan to certain members of
management for the period from 2013 to 2017. lisdit@mns are similar to the conditions of the pomd
compensation plan after modification. The numberas$igned shares is approximately 19 million. The
Group is currently finalizing the calculation oftlgrant date fair value of the new plan.

Note 22.Segment information

Presented below is information about the Groupsraiing and geographical segments for the yearsdend
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, in accordanchk Wipic 280, “Segment reporting,” of the
Codification

The Group has the following operating segments plogation and production; refining, marketing and
distribution; chemicals; power generation and otheisiness segments. These segments have been
determined based on the nature of their operatidasagement on a regular basis assesses the penfoem

of these operating segments. The exploration aodyation segment explores for, develops and praduce
primarily crude oil. The refining, marketing andstlibution segment processes crude oil into refined
products and purchases, sells and transports awildend refined petroleum products. The chemicals
segment refines and sells chemical products. Tiepgeneration segment produces steam and eléegtrici
distributes them and provides related services.dhieities of the other business operating segrmshtide
businesses beyond the Group’s traditional operstion

Geographical segments are based on the area oftgpsr and include two segments: Russia and
International.

Operating segments

Refining,
Exploration marketing and Power

2012 and production distribution Chemicals generation  Other Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 3,130 133,139 1,362 1,411 129 - 18p,1

Inter-segment 43,959 1,738 307 1,557 2,926 (50,487)
Total sales 47,089 134,877 1,669 2,968 3,055 (59,48 139,171
Operating expenses 5,210 3,565 568 1,867 2,299 15@%, 9,359
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 3,061 1,371 65 248 124 (37) 4,832
Interest expense 850 691 47 73 557 (1,680) 538
Income tax expense 1,920 711 57 34 52 24 2,798
Net income (net loss) 8,326 3,639 (279) (278) (363) (42) 11,004
Total assets 67,523 70,120 1,166 4,530 20,512 964,8 98,961
Capital expenditures 8,902 2,078 90 503 277 - 11,850
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Note 22. Segment information (continued)

Refining,

Exploration marketing and Power

2011 and production distribution Chemicals generation  Other Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 3,449 126,665 1,944 1,472 120 - 153,6

Inter-segment 41,409 1,884 500 1,520 2,467 (47,780) -
Total sales 44,858 128,549 2,444 2,992 2,587 (4,78 133,650
Operating expenses 4,347 3,975 459 2,098 2,029 8533, 9,055
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 2,865 1,248 63 224 129 (56) 4,473
Interest expense 732 709 20 47 505 (1,319) 694
Income tax expense 2,106 1,060 43 (5) 10 79 3,293
Net income (net loss) 6,665 3,687 (27) (@127) (370) 529 10,357
Total assets 60,311 62,173 1,488 4,220 21,201 33,2 91,192
Capital expenditures 6,629 1,354 89 196 224 - 8,492

Refining,
Exploration marketing and Power

2010 and production distribution Chemicals generation  Other Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 3,012 99,064 1,331 1,416 133 - 108,95

Inter-segment 33,511 1,182 271 1,277 1,937 (38,178) -
Total sales 36,523 100,246 1,602 2,693 2,070 (83,17 104,956
Operating expenses 3,965 3,771 294 1,901 1,628 2613, 8,298
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 2,773 1,033 40 183 126 Q) 4,154
Interest expense 806 859 26 38 405 (1,422) 712
Income tax expense 1,449 874 37 a4) 4 1 2,351
Net income (net loss) 6,139 3,330 101 (167)(317) (80) 9,006
Total assets 57,280 56,908 1,249 4,338 15,390 48],1 84,017
Capital expenditures 4,908 1,320 76 420 120 - 6,844
Geographical segments

2012 2011 2010

Sales of crude oil within Russia 1,634 1,571 956
Export of crude oil and sales of crude oil by fgresubsidiaries 26,036 32,522 26,342
Sales of refined products within Russia 16,803 15,242 10,928
Export of refined products and sales of refinecdpats by foreign
subsidiaries 86,604 76,335 60,018
Sales of chemicals within Russia 418 914 728
Export of chemicals and sales of chemicals by fpraubsidiaries 992 1,095 642
Other sales within Russia 3,281 3,213 2,881
Other export sales and other sales by foreign digvis 3,403 2,758 2,461
Total sales 139,171 133,650 104,956
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Note 22. Segment information (continued)

2012 Russia International Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 25,370 113,801 - 139,171

Inter-segment 39,355 200 (39,555) -
Total sales 64,725 114,001 (39,555) 139,171
Operating expenses 7,333 2,113 (87) 9,359
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 3,834 998 - 4,832
Interest expense 194 504 (160) 538
Income tax expense 2,316 489 (7) 2,798
Net income 10,238 776 (20) 11,004
Total assets 78,515 36,108 (15,662) 98,961
Capital expenditures 9,343 2,507 - 11,850
2011 Russia International Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 24,674 108,976 - 133,650

Inter-segment 39,567 143 (39,710) -
Total sales 64,241 109,119 (39,710) 133,650
Operating expenses 6,999 2,094 (38) 9,055
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 3,692 781 - 4,473
Interest expense 338 477 (121) 694
Income tax expense 2,715 554 24 3,293
Net income 9,769 4 584 10,357
Total assets 73,150 34,384 (16,342) 91,192
Capital expenditures 6,516 1,976 - 8,492
2010 Russia International Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 17,615 87,341 - 104,956

Inter-segment 34,599 37 (34,636) -
Total sales 52,214 87,378 (34,636) 104,956
Operating expenses 6,334 2,005 (42) 8,298
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 3,393 761 - 4,154
Interest expense 415 427 (130) 712
Income tax expense 1,993 359 (2) 2,351
Net income (net loss) 8,542 542 (78) 9,006
Total assets 74,033 30,225 (20,241) 84,017
Capital expenditures 5,333 1,511 - 6,844

The Group’s international sales to third partiesliude sales in Switzerland of $67,057 million, $&6l

million and $53,245 million for the years ended Beber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Group’s international sales to third partiedude sales in the USA of $12,649 million, $9,49@iom

and $8,595 million for the years ended DecembefB812, 2011 and 2010, respectively. These amouets a

attributed to individual countries based on théspliction of subsidiaries making the sale.

Note 23.Subsequent events

In accordance with the requirements of Topic 8%bsequent events,6f the Codificationthe Group
evaluated subsequent events through the dateriduecial statements were available to be issuedeldre
subsequent events were evaluated by the Group kghiaary 22, 2013.
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This section provides unaudited supplemental infdiom on oil and gas exploration and production
activities in accordance with Topic 93Disclosures About Oil and Gas Producing Activitiesof the

Coadification in six separate tables:

I.  Capitalized costs relating to oil and gas produciatiyities.
Il. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisitexploration, and development activities.
Ill. Results of operations for oil and gas produciniyiets.

IV. Reserve quantity information.

V. Standardized measure of discounted future netftash.

VI. Principal sources of changes in the standardizexsure of discounted future net cash flows.

Amounts shown for equity companies represent theus share in its exploration and production
affiliates, which are accounted for using the gguaiethod of accounting.

I. Capitalized costs relating to oil and gas produng activities

Total Group's share
consolidated in equity
As of December 31, 2012 International Russia companies companies
Unproved oil and gas properties 1,145 2,393 3,538 551
Proved oil and gas properties 8,555 58,408 66,963 2,436
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and
amortization (2,213) (21,803) (24,016) (838)
Net capitalized costs 7,487 38,998 46,485 2,149
Total Group’s share
consolidated in equity
As of December 31, 2011 International Russia companies companies
Unproved oil and gas properties 659 1,192 1,851 166
Proved oil and gas properties 7,479 52,330 59,809 2,315
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and
amortization (1,762) (19,527) (21,289) (718)
Net capitalized costs 6,376 33,995 40,371 1,763
Total Group’s share
consolidated in equity
As of December 31, 2010 International Russia companies companies
Unproved oil and gas properties 536 1,050 1,586 274
Proved oil and gas properties 6,578 49,914 56,492 2,111
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and
amortization (1,490) (18,530) (20,020) (597)
Net capitalized costs 5,624 32,434 38,058 1,788
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II. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquigh, exploration, and development activities

Total Group’s share
consolidated in equity
Year ended December 31, 2012 International Russia companies companies
Acquisition of properties — proved 97 - 97 -
Acquisition of properties — unproved 37 937 974
Exploration costs 144 525 669 16
Development costs 1,621 6,489 8,110 490
Total costs incurred 1,899 7,951 9,850 506
Total Group’s share
consolidated in equity
Year ended December 31, 2011 International Russia companies companies
Acquisition of properties — proved - 41 41 -
Acquisition of properties — unproved 70 164 234
Exploration costs 507 358 865 8
Development costs 968 4,726 5,694 123
Total costs incurred 1,545 5,289 6,834 131
Total Group's share
consolidated in equity
Year ended December 31, 2010 International Russia companies companies
Acquisition of properties — proved 113 - 113
Acquisition of properties — unproved - 15 15 122
Exploration costs 199 220 419 16
Development costs 685 3,686 4,371 115
Total costs incurred 997 3,921 4,918 253

lll. Results of operations for oil and gas producing mities

The Group’s results of operations for oil and gesdpcing activities are presented below. In acaoecda

with Topic 932 of the Codification, sales and tfens to Group companies are based on market prices.

Income taxes are based on statutory rates. Thégesiwoperations exclude corporate overhead atefant

costs.
Total Group’s share
consolidated in equity

Year ended December 31, 2012 International Russia companies companies
Revenue

Sales 2,910 23,011 25,921 1,728

Transfers - 17,165 17,165 34
Total revenues 2,910 40,176 43,086 1,762
Production costs (excluding production taxes) (299) (3,562) (3,861) (126)
Exploration expense (159) (205) (364) (6)
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization, and
valuation provision (500) (2,544) (3,044) (126)
Taxes other than income taxes (399) (24,247) (24,646) (564)
Related income taxes (428) (1,618) (2,046) (423)
Total results of operations for producing actistie 1,125 8,000 9,125 517
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Total Group’s share

consolidated in equity
Year ended December 31, 2011 International Russia companies companies
Revenue
Sales 2,656 25,373 28,029 1,924
Transfers - 14,107 14,107 14
Total revenues 2,656 39,480 42,136 1,938
Production costs (excluding production taxes) (242) (3,529) 3,771) (93)
Exploration expense (439) (93) (532) )
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization, and
valuation provision (324) (2,511) (2,835) (125)
Taxes other than income taxes (460) (23,817) (24,277) (640)
Related income taxes (531) (1,824) (2,355) (407)
Total results of operations for producing actistie 660 7,706 8,366 671
Total Group’s share
consolidated in equity
Year ended December 31, 2010 International Russia companies companies
Revenue
Sales 1,926 20,003 21,929 1,350
Transfers - 12,395 12,395 13
Total revenues 1,926 32,398 34,324 1,363
Production costs (excluding production taxes) (218) (3,212) (3,430) (113)
Exploration expense (240) (96) (336) 2)
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization, and
valuation provision (306) (2,504) (2,810) (127)
Taxes other than income taxes (257) (17,872) (18,129) (321)
Related income taxes (314) (1,807) (2,121) (275)
Total results of operations for producing actiitie 591 6,907 7,498 525

IV. Reserve gquantity information

Proved reserves are the estimated quantities @noilgas reserves which geological and engineelidtay
demonstrate will be recoverable with reasonableéagdy in future years from known reservoirs under
existing economic and operating conditions. In adance with Topic 932 of the Codification existing
economic and operating conditions are based od2kfmaonths average price and the year-end costgeéro
reserves do not include additional quantities bind gas reserves that may result from applyicorsdary

or tertiary recovery techniques not yet testeddatdrmined to be economic.

Proved developed reserves are the quantities ekgdroeserves expected to be recovered throughrexist
wells with existing equipment and operating methods

Due to the inherent uncertainties and the necégdimnited nature of reservoir data, estimates edarves
are inherently imprecise, require the applicatidnjulgment and are subject to change as additional

information becomes available.

Management has included within proved reservesfgignt quantities which the Group expects to praalu
after the expiry dates of certain of its currenddqurction licenses in the Russian Federation. THes&U
Law of the Russian Federation states that, upoiradiqn, a license is subject to renewal at thédtive of
the license holder provided that further explomtiappraisal, production or remediation activitee
necessary and provided that the license holdendiagiolated the terms of the license. Since tinedaplies
both to newly issued and old licenses and the Gragpcurrently renewed more than 50% of its license
management believes that licenses will be renevpen their expiration for the remainder of the equoiw

life of each respective field.
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Estimated net proved oil and gas reserves and elsahgreto for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2
and 2010, are shown in the tables set out below.

Group’s share

Millions of barrels Consolidated subsidiaries in equity
companies
International Russia Total

Crude oil

January 1, 2010 329 13,054 13,383 313
Revisions of previous estimates 4) (279) (283) (5)
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 62 - 62 -
Extensions and discoveries 10 550 560 10
Production (26) (671) (697) (24)

December 31, 2010 371 12,654 13,025 294
Revisions of previous estimates (12) 246 234 7
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place - 7 7 -
Extensions and discoveries 4 515 519 1
Production (26) (636) (662) (22)

December 31, 2011 337 12,786 13,123 280
Revisions of previous estimates Q) 67 66 (2)
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 42 - 42 -
Extensions and discoveries 40 511 551 2
Production (25) (631) (656) (22)
Sales of reserves (2) 3) (5) -

December 31, 2012 391 12,730 13,121 260

Proved developed reserves

December 31, 2010 207 8,401 8,608 182
December 31, 2011 197 8,397 8,594 178
December 31, 2012 136 8,241 8,377 160

The non-controlling interest share included in Himve total proved reserves was 71 million barrels,
163 million barrels and 187 million barrels as oédember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The non-controlling interest share included in dfv®ve proved developed reserves was 43 milliorelsarr
96 million barrels and 132 million barrels as of cember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Substantially all non-controlling interests reltdehe reserves in the Russian Federation.
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Group's share

Billions of cubic feet Consolidated subsidiaries in equity
companies
International Russia Total
Natural gas
January 1, 2010 6,631 15,933 22,564 286
Revisions of previous estimates (35) 1,198 1,163 11
Extensions and discoveries 98 226 324 4
Production (187) (524) (711) (26)
December 31, 2010 6,507 16,833 23,340 275
Revisions of previous estimates (487) 253 (234) 25
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place - 1 1 -
Extensions and discoveries 240 309 549 1
Production (189) (545) (734) (27)
December 31, 2011 6,071 16,851 22,922 274
Revisions of previous estimates (155) 602 447 12
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 1 - 1 -
Extensions and discoveries 93 595 688 5
Production (248) (571) (819) (26)
Sales of reserves (17) - (17) -
December 31, 2012 5,745 17,477 23,222 265
Proved developed reserves:
December 31, 2010 2,715 6,024 8,739 143
December 31, 2011 3,250 6,065 9,315 163
December 31, 2012 2,505 6,066 8,571 156

The non-controlling interest share included in #imve total proved reserves was 23 billion cubéat,fe
31 billion cubic feet and 34 billion cubic feet af December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The non-controlling interest share included in #imve proved developed reserves was 14 billionccubi
feet, 21 billion cubic feet and 24 billion cubicefeas of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respbcti
Substantially all non-controlling interests reltdehe reserves in the Russian Federation.

V. Standardized measure of discounted future neslcdlows

The standardized measure of discounted future as#t flows, related to the above oil and gas reserge
calculated in accordance with the requirements apid 932 of the Codification. Estimated future cash
inflows from production are computed by applying tt2-months average price for oil and gas to yadr-e
guantities of estimated net proved reserves. Adjests in this calculation for future price changes
limited to those required by contractual arrangem@mexistence at the end of each reporting yeature
development and production costs are those estinfiatere expenditures necessary to develop andupsod
year-end estimated proved reserves based on ydacast indices, assuming continuation of year-end
economic conditions. Estimated future income taa@es calculated by applying appropriate year-end
statutory tax rates. These rates reflect allowalglductions and tax credits and are applied to astin
future pre-tax net cash flows, less the tax bateslated assets. Discounted future net cash fltave been
calculated using a ten percent discount factorc@iating requires a year-by-year estimate of wheuaré
expenditures will be incurred and when reservekheilproduced.

The information provided in the tables set out belioes not represent management’s estimate of the
Group’s expected future cash flows or of the vailtithe Group’s proved oil and gas reserves. Es@amat
proved reserve quantities are imprecise and chamge time as new information becomes available.
Moreover, probable and possible reserves, which begpme proved in the future, are excluded from the
calculations.
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The arbitrary valuation, prescribed under Topic @82he Codification, requires assumptions as ® th
timing and amount of future development and praduactosts. The calculations should not be reliednup
as an indication of the Group’s future cash flowsfathe value of its oil and gas reserves.

Total Group’s share

consolidated in equity

International Russia companies companies
As of December 31, 2012
Future cash inflows 58,747 619,743 678,490 24,279
Future production and development costs (36,468)  (424,260) (460,728) (12,469)
Future income tax expenses (4,156) (34,573) (38,729) (2,592)
Future net cash flows 18,123 160,910 179,033 9,218
Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10%.). (9,964) (96,015) (105,979) (4,723)
Discounted future net cash flows 8,159 64,895 7,05 4,495
Non-controlling share
in discounted future net cash flows - 397 397 -

Total Group’s share

consolidated in equity

International Russia companies companies
As of December 31, 2011
Future cash inflows 51,665 616,290 667,955 25,773
Future production and development costs (26,242)  (416,403) (442,645) (12,897)
Future income tax expenses (6,056) (35,768) (41,824) (2,896)
Future net cash flows 19,367 164,119 183,486 9,980
Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10%.). (10,930) (97,394) (108,324) (5,145)
Discounted future net cash flows 8,437 66,725 75,16 4,835
Non-controlling share
in discounted future net cash flows - 937 937 -

Total Group’s share

consolidated in equity

International Russia companies companies
As of December 31, 2010
Future cash inflows 40,871 432,401 473,272 18,629
Future production and development costs (23,193)  (313,375) (336,568) (9,503)
Future income tax expenses (3,843) (19,775) (23,618) (2,107)
Future net cash flows 13,835 99,251 113,086 7,019
Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10%.). (8,641) (60,808) (69,449) (3,656)
Discounted future net cash flows 5,194 38,443 48,63 3,363
Non-controlling share
in discounted future net cash flows - 963 963 -
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VI. Principal sources of changes in the standardizeeasure of discounted future net cash flows

Consolidated companies 2012 2011 2010
Discounted present value as at January 1 75,162 43,637 45,597
Net changes due to purchases and sales of mineakce 256 39 (193)
Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, natoafuction costs (14,215) (13,515) (12,454)
Net changes in prices and production costs estimate (8,480) 69,089 22,241
Net changes in mineral extraction taxes 627 (32,678) (23,976)
Extensions and discoveries, less related costs 3,174 3,492 1,886
Previously estimated development cost incurredndyitie period 7,241 6,182 5,565
Revisions of previous quantity estimates 377 620 (433)
Net change in income taxes 1,337 (7,467) 407
Other changes (735) 224 (141)
Accretion of discount 8,310 5,539 5,138
Discounted present value at December 31 73,054 75,162 43,637
Group’s share in equity companies 2012 2011 2010
Discounted present value as at January 1 4,835 3,363 2,622
Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, natoafuction costs (1,066) (1,203) (927)
Net changes in prices and production costs estimate (101) 3,820 2,296
Net changes in mineral extraction taxes ) (1,720) (985)
Extensions and discoveries, less related costs 20 8 53
Previously estimated development cost incurredndypitie period 88 66 120
Revisions of previous quantity estimates 3) 179 (56)
Net change in income taxes 139 (365) (294)
Other changes 17 267 234
Accretion of discount 573 420 300
Discounted present value at December 31 4,495 4,835 3,363
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